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Chairman’s Letter 

Dear Shareholders 

Critical Metals aims to supply European industry with metals from Scandinavia via urban mining and traditional mining.  

Urban mining refers to the recovery of critical metals from industrial waste. Critical Metals is focussed on recovering vanadium from slag produced during 
the production of steel, and recycling nickel, cobalt, manganese and lithium from off-specification and end of life lithium ion batteries.  

VANADIUM RECOVERY 

In April 2020 Critical Metals secured a conditional contract to purchase 200,000T of slag products for 10 years from Scandinavian steel producer SSAB, and 
a co-operation agreement with specialty metals company Neometals Ltd to process the slag to recover vanadium. The results of a scoping study released 
to the ASX by Neometals in June 2020 highlighted a strong case for future development of the project with robust economic outcomes in first quartile 
operating cost position. Pilot scale metallurgical test work has commenced and is expected to be completed in September 2020. A pre-feasibility study is 
due for completion by 30 June 2021 with production targeted for late 2024. Critical Metals is being carried by Neometals on the funding of all studies and 
test work. Critical Metals is responsible for delivering a location study, managing in-country matters, and the relationship with SSAB. For detailed information 
please refer to the Review of Operations. 

LITHIUM ION BATTERY RECYCLING  

In September 2018 Critical Metals secured the sole and exclusive rights to a sustainable process for the recovery of valuable constituents from cell production 
scrap and end-of-life lithium-ion batteries (LIBs) in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, and Finland. The patent pending process is owned by a subsidiary of project 
developer Neometals Ltd. The recycling process targets the recovery of >90% of valuable materials from consumer electronic batteries (devices with lithium 
cobalt oxide (LCO) cathodes), and nickel‐rich electric vehicle and stationary storage battery chemistries (lithium‐nickel-manganese‐cobalt (NMC) cathodes). 
Neometals’ pilot plant (“Pilot”) validated earlier bench scale assumptions with high recoveries of the targeted suite of cathode active elements and refined 
them into high purity chemicals for re-use in the battery supply chain. Critical Metals aims to deploy the technology in the licensed jurisdictions and derive 
revenue from provision of recycling services, and sale of recovered cobalt, nickel, lithium, copper, iron, aluminium, manganese into saleable products. 
Separate to the technology license agreement between Critical Metals and Neometals, Neometals is finalising definitive legal agreements with large privately 
owned German engineering firm SMS Group GmbH (“SMS”) for a 50:50 LIB recycling joint venture to commercialise the Neometals technology. Critical 
Metals is free-carried by Neometals through to Final Investment Decision on the first commercial LIB recycling plant. For detailed information please refer 
to the Review of Operations. 

MINERAL EXPLORATION 

Mineral exploration activities refer to the discovery of economic mineral deposits. Critical Metals is focused on nickel, copper, gold and vanadium exploration 
in Sweden and Finland. The most advanced project is the Pahtohavare copper-gold project where the Company is free-carried to a decision to mine by 
Swedish joint venture partner Lovisagruvan AB.  

Subject to successfully executing our plans we foresee an opportunity to list Critical Metals on a securities exchange within the next twelve months. 
Challenges associated with COVID-19 do however create uncertainty in relation to these plans.  

Please continue to support Critical Metals by visiting www.criticalmetals.eu, sign up for email alerts and follow Critical Metals on Twitter. If you have any 
questions you are welcome to contact me. 

Best regards, 

Damian Hicks 
Executive Director 
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Board of Directors 

The names of the Directors of the Company who have held office during and since the end of the financial year are: 

Mr Jonathan Murray, Non-Executive Chairman (Appointed 16 January 2017) 

Mr Murray is a partner at law firm Steinepreis Paganin, based in Perth, Western Australia. He has significant experience in advising on initial public offers 
and secondary market capital raisings, all forms of commercial acquisitions and divestments and providing general corporate and strategic advice. Prior to 
his commencement at Steinepreis Paganin in 1997, he practiced law for two years at national law firm Clayton Utz.  

Mr Murray graduated from Murdoch University in 1996 with a Bachelor of Laws and Commerce (majoring in Accounting). He is also a member of FINSIA 
(formerly the Securities Institute of Australia). 

Mr Damian Hicks, Executive Director (Appointed 9 August 2016) 

Mr Hicks is a founding Director of Critical Metals Ltd.  

Mr Hicks holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting and Finance) from the University of Western Australia, is admitted as a Barrister and Solicitor of the 
Supreme Court of Western Australia, holds a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance & Investment from FINSIA, a Graduate Diploma in Company Secretarial 
Practice from Governance Institute of Australia and is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors course.  

Mr Hicks is Executive Director of both ASX listed Hannans Ltd, unlisted Errawarra Resources Ltd and Chairman of advisory firm Corporate Board Services. 

Mr Markus Bachmann, Non-Executive Director (Appointed 9 August 2016) 

Mr Bachmann is a founding Director of Critical Metals Ltd.  

Mr Markus Bachmann holds a Master (MA) in Business and Economics (cum laude) from the University of Berne, Switzerland. Markus started his career in 
the corporate finance department of the Credit Suisse Group, before joining SBC Brinson Asset Management Emerging Markets team in 1997. There he 
was assigned responsibility for the analysis and portfolio management for the equity markets of Greece, Portugal, the Middle East (including Israel) and 
Africa.  

In 2000 he joined Coronation Fund Managers in Cape Town, South Africa, as a senior manager for various retail products and institutional mandates. In 
2001 he recieved the S&P Award for the best performing large cap equity unit trust in South Africa. Markus co-funded Craton Capital in 2003. He is the 
Manager of the Craton Capital Precious Metal Fund and the Global Resources Fund. Under his management, the Craton Capital funds recieved a number 
of prestigious industry awards for management and performance excellence, including Sauren Golden Award, €uro am Sonntag and Mining Journal 
Outstanding Achievement. 

Mr Kris Gram, Non-Executive Director (Appointed 23 November 2016) 

Mr. Gram graduated from the University of St. Andrews in Scotland in 2000 with a MA in Management. After spending 5 years with Capgemini Consulting 
as a strategy consultant he joined the corporate finance team at the Norwegian investment bank Pareto. At Pareto, Mr Gram has focused on equity- and 
bond capital raisings, IPO’s and M&A for mining companies. As a Partner at Pareto Mr. Gram originated and managed several large scale international 
transactions. Mr Gram went on to spend 4 years as MD of a family owned investment company before assuming his current position as COO of ProCorp, a 
small SMB focused investment bank in Oslo. 

Mr Olof Forslund, Non-Executive Director (Appointed 23 November 2016) 

Mr Forslund is a geophysicist and has extensive international experience in the mineral exploration industry, particularly in the development and application 
of geophysical instruments and radar technology. His assignments have covered activities in Sweden, Japan, South Korea, Germany, Belgium, Italy, France, 
Canada and the USA. Mr Forslund commenced with SGU in 1966 and during the period 2003 - 2007 Mr Forslund was Regional Manager of the Geological 
Survey of Sweden' Mineral Resources Information Office in Mala, Sweden (www.sgu.se). Mr Forslund was a founding shareholder and President of MALÅ 
GeoScience (www.malags.com) between 1994 and 1998. MALÅ is currently the global leader in the design and manufacture of Ground Penetrating Radar 
(GPR) systems. 

The Directors held their position throughout the entire period and up to the date of this report unless stated otherwise. 

At the date of this report the following table sets out the current Directors’ relevant interests in shares and options of Critical Metals Ltd. 

 Ordinary Shares Options 

Current 
Holding 

Net Increase/ 
(decrease)  

Current 
Holding 

Net Increase/ 
(decrease)  

Jonathan Murray 496,813 – 500,000 – 

Damian Hicks 273,358 – – – 

Markus Bachmann 1,121,669 – 500,000 – 

Kris Gram 1,000,000 – 500,000 – 

Olof Forslund – – 500,000 – 
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Remuneration Report (Unaudited) 

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 

A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

B. Details of remuneration 

C. Service agreements 

D. Share-based compensation 

E. Directors’ equity holdings 

F. Additional information 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

The whole Board form the Remuneration Committee. The remuneration policy has been designed to align director and executive objectives with shareholder 
and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component with the flexibility to offer specific long term incentives based on key performance 
areas affecting the Company’s financial results. The Board believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain 
the best directors and executives to manage the Company. 

The Non-Executive Directors of the Company have not entered into employment contracts with the Company. It is envisaged that subject to completion of 
key milestones, including future capital raisings, the Directors will if necessary seek shareholder approval for individual Director’s employment contract that 
will reflect past and future services to the Company. 

B. Details of remuneration 

Details of remuneration of the directors and key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) of Critical Metals Ltd are set 
out in the following table. 

The key management personnel of Critical Metals Ltd are the directors as listed on page 3. 

The table below shows the 2020 and 2019 figures for remuneration of the Company’s directors. 

 

Short Term Post-employment Equity 

Other 
benefits 

 

Salary  
& fees (i) Bonus(i) 

Other 
benefits 

Super-
annuation 

Pre-
scribed 
benefits Shares 

Options 
(ii) Total 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

2020          

Directors          

Jonathan Murray (iii) 37,500 – – – – – 29,704 – 67,204 

Damian Hicks (iv) 147,825 36,550 – – – – 207,928 – 392,303 

Markus Bachmann (iii) 37,500 – – – – – 29,704 – 67,204 

Kris Gram (iii) 36,667 – – – – – 29,704 – 66,371 

Olof Forslund (iii) 36,667 – – – – – 29,704 – 66,371 

Total 296,159 36,550 – – – – 326,744 – 659,453 

2019          

Directors          

Jonathan Murray – – – – – – – – – 

Damian Hicks (iv) 316,350 – – – – – – – 316,350 

Markus Bachmann – – – – – – – – – 

Kris Gram – – – – – – – – – 

Olof Forslund – – – – – – – – – 

Total 316,350 – – – – – – – 316,350 

(i) These amounts for 2019 and 2020 have been accrued by the Non-Executive Chairman, Non-Executive Directors and Executive Director and have not been paid in cash. 
(ii) These amounts are accounting valuations of options granted as remuneration and are not cash payments. 
(iii) The Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors agreed to defer their directors’ fee from the date of appointment through to 30 June 2020 to assist the Company 

with managing its cash flow requirements. The amounts tabled above reflect the fees owing to the Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors respectively. As 
at the date of this report, the Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors have not received cash payments since their appointment. The Directors will seek 
shareholder approval for the issue of shares in part payment of their unpaid fees at the 2020 Annual General Meeting. 

(iv) Since the date of his appointment as a director, Mr Hicks agreed to defer the majority of his salary entitlements through to 30 June 2020 to assist the company with 
managing its cash flow requirements.The Company increased Mr Hicks’ salary entitlements to $197,100 per annum starting 1 April 2020. The amounts tabled above 
reflect the salary entitlements (including bonus) owing to Mr Hicks pursuant to his employment contract. Mr Hicks did not receive any cash payment for his salary or 
bonus during the year 2020 (2019: Nil). As at the date of this report, Mr Hicks continues to defer his salary entitlements and does not receive cash payments. Mr Hicks 
will seek shareholder approval for the issue of shares in part payment of his unpaid fee at the 2020 Annual General Meeting. 
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C. Service agreements 

Executive Director 

Mr Hicks was appointed as a Director on 9 August 2016. 

Mr Hicks entered into a consultancy services agreement with the Company to perform the role of Executive Director from 1 October 2016. The agreement 
provided for remuneration of of $131,400 per annum (exclusive of statutory superannuation entitlements), reimbursement of work related expenses, an 
annual remuneration review and provision for a performance based bonus as determined by the Board. He is not entitled to any leave or other entitlements. 
The Company can terminate the arrangement with six (6) months written notice and payment of outstanding salary and entitlements. Mr Hicks can terminate 
the arrangement with three (3) months written notice.  

The Company acknowledges Mr Hicks’ contribution in the execution of the SSAB slag purchase agreement and the Board resolved to increase Mr Hicks’ 
remuneration to $197,100 per annum from 1 April 2020 (exclusive of statutory superannuation entitlements) and issue a bonus of $36,550 for the year. 

In an effort to assist the Company with managing its cash flow, Mr Hicks did not receive any cash payments for his salary or bonus during the year 2020 
(2019: Nil) and has agreed to defer $500,725 (2019: accrued $316,350) in salary entitlements that have accrued during the period 1 December 2016 to 30 
June 2020. The total deferred fees is included in note 11. Mr Hicks will seek shareholder approval for the issue of shares in part payment of his unpaid salary 
entitlements at the 2020 Annual General Meeting. 

As at the date of this report, Mr Hicks continues to defer his salary entitlements and does not receive cash payments for service performed for the Company. 

Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are formalised in service agreements. The 
Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are employed on a rolling basis with no specified fixed terms. They are remunerated on a fixed 
remuneration basis, exclusive of superannuation. From the date of their appointment Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors accrued fees 
of $10,000 per annum for the Non-Executive Chairman and each Non-Executive Director respectively.  

In an effort to assist the Company with managing its cash flow, Mr Murray, Mr Bachmann, Mr Gram and Mr Forslund have deferred their Non-Executive 
Director fees from date of appointment through to 30 June 2020 and have have not received cash payments since their appointment. The total deferred fees 
is included in note 11. The Directors will seek shareholder approval for the issue of shares in part payment of their unpaid fees at the 2020 Annual General 
Meeting. 

After a further review of the Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ fees, the Board resolved to increase these fees to $15,000 per annum 
starting from 1 July 2020. 

As at the date of this report, the Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ continue to accrue their fees and do not receive cash payments for 
service performed for the Company. 

Other 

The Group has a corporate service agreement with Corporate Board Services Pty Ltd (CBS) to provide management, financial, company secretary and 
administrative services from 1 October 2016. Mr Damian Hicks is a director of CBS. Refer to note 22 for further details. One month notice of termination is 
required from either party if the agreement is sought to be terminated. 

D. Share-based compensation 

Options can be issued to directors and executives as part of their remuneration. The options are not based on performance criteria, but are issued to align 
the interests of directors, executives and shareholders.  

During the year, Critical Metals shareholders approved the issue of 6,500,000 options to the Directors, company secretary and directors of subsidiaries. The 
Company issued 1,000,000 options to Neometals Ltd (2019: nil) as part of the a co-operation agreement that relates to the Vanadium Recovery Project. 

During the year a total of 4,850,000 options expired on 11 May 2020 unexercised. 

As at 30 June 2020 there were 2,000,000 options (2019: 2,000,000) held by Directors. Refer to the next section for further details of the options outstanding. 
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E. Directors’ equity holdings 

(a) Fully paid ordinary shares of Critical Metals Ltd 

Key management personnel 

Balance at 
beginning  

of year 
Granted as 

remuneration 

Received on 
exercise of 

options 
Net other 

change 
Balance at 

30 June 

No. No. No. No. No. 

2020      

Jonathan Murray 396,813 – – 100,000 496,813 

Damian Hicks 240,972 – – 32,386 273,358 

Markus Bachmann 1,121,669 – – – 1,121,669 

Kris Gram 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 

Olof Forslund – – – – – 

 2,759,454 – – 132,386 2,891,840 

2019      

Jonathan Murray 396,813 – – – 396,813 

Damian Hicks 240,972 – – – 240,972 

Markus Bachmann 1,121,669 – – – 1,121,669 

Kris Gram 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 

Olof Forslund – – – – – 

 2,759,454 – – – 2,759,454 

(b) Options of Critical Metals Ltd 

Key management 
personnel 

Balance at 
beginning  

of year 

Granted as 
remune-

ration 
Options 

exercised 
Net other 
changes 

Balance at 
30 June Exercisable 

Not exerci-
sable 

No. No. No. No. No. No. No. 

2020        

Jonathan Murray 500,000 500,000 – (500,000) 500,000 500,000 – 

Damian Hicks(i) – 3,500,000 – (3,500,000) – 3,500,000 – 

Markus Bachmann 500,000 500,000 – (500,000) 500,000 500,000 – 

Kris Gram 500,000 500,000 – (500,000) 500,000 500,000 – 

Olof Forslund 500,000 500,000 – (500,000) 500,000 500,000 – 

 2,000,000 5,500,000 – (5,500,000) 2,000,000 5,500,000 – 

2019        

Jonathan Murray 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000 – 

Damian Hicks – – – – – – – 

Markus Bachmann 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000 – 

Kris Gram 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000 – 

Olof Forslund 500,000 – – – 500,000 500,000 – 

 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 2,000,000 – 

(i) Mr Hicks received 3,500,000 unlisted options during the year. At the direction of Mr Hicks, the options were issued to Acacia Investments Pty Ltd (Acacia).  
Mr Hicks is neither a director, shareholder or beneficiary of Acacia or any trust where Acacia is a trustee. 
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F. Additional information 

Performance income as a proportion of total compensation 

Mr Hicks received a $36,550 bonus for completing the SSAB slag purchase agreement. In an effort to assist the Company with managing its cash flow, Mr 
Hicks has agreed to defer payment of his bonus. 

End of Remuneration Report (Unaudited) 

Directors Meetings 

The following tables set information in relation to Board meetings held during the financial year.  

Board Member 
Board Meetings held 

while Director Attended 
CircularResolutions 

Passed Total 

Jonathan Murray 3 3 6 9 

Damian Hicks 3 3 6 9 

Markus Bachmann 3 3 6 9 

Kris Gram 3 3 8 11 

Olof Forslund 3 3 8 11 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Group during the year were: 

• investigating the recovery of vanadium from steel making slag; 

• sourcing lithium ion battery feedstock for recycling; and 

• exploration of mining tenements with the aim of discovering economic mineral deposits. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

People  

Critical Metals has an experienced Board of Directors, Management and team of consultants capable of driving the Company’s strategy. The majority of the 
Company’s management team are based in Scandinavia, including directors, management, and consultants. The Company has an excellent understanding 
of the relevant jurisdictions and deep networks that increase the probability of the Company achieving its goals. During the year Critical Metals welcomed 
Mr Per-Olof (“Pelle”) Renling to the Group as a non-executive director of subsidiary company Recycling Industries Scandinavia AB (RISAB). 

Urban Mining 

Vanadium Recovery Project 

Highlights 

• Agreements signed in April 2020 with Scandinavian steel producer SSAB and project developer Neometals Ltd to investigate the recovery of 
vanadium from slag produced during the steel production process; 

• Scoping Study completed in June 2020 highlighted a strong case for future development of a Scandinavian operation to recover vanadium products 
from steel making by-products; 

• Robust economic outcomes put project in first quartile operating cost position;  
• Processing method utilises conventional equipment at atmospheric pressure and mild temperatures; and 
• Preliminary Feasibility Study metallurgical test work program and drilling for variability sample test work ongoing. 

Critical Metals, through its wholly owned subsidiary Recycling Industries Scandinavia AB (RISAB) entered into two transactions underpinning the vanadium 
recovery project, namely a slag supply agreement with Scandinavian steel giant SSAB, and a technology collaboration agreement with leading Australian 
specialty minerals company Neometals Ltd. The key components of the agreements can be summarised as follows:  

10-year slag supply agreement with SSAB 

 Critical Metals will purchase steel by-products (i.e. slag) from SSAB 

 Agreement provides for at least 2 million dry metric tonnes of slag 

 Agreement conditional on Critical Metals meeting project study 
milestones and commencing production by December 2024 

Collaboration agreement with Neometals Ltd  

 Critical Metals and Neometals will share the economic benefits of the 
vanadium recycling project 

 Neometals to fund all studies up to final investment decision, which if 
positive will lead to a 50:50 joint venture 

 Critical Metals will fund location study for plant in Sweden or Finland 

 Neometals entitled to a gross revenue royalty on sales of vanadium 
products 

On 23 June 2020 Neometals Ltd announced completion of a Scoping Study (Study) on 
the recovery of vanadium pentoxide (V2O5) from high-grade vanadium-bearing steel by-
product (Slag). 

Critical Metals and Neometals were extremely encouraged by the outcomes of the Study 
highlighted by potentially robust economic margins with a first quartile position on the 
operating cost curve. Given the positive results from the Study, Neometals will fund the 
next stage of evaluation studies, comprising completion of continuous lab-scale 
metallurgical test-work before commencing a Class 4 American Association of Cost 
Engineering (AACE) study culminating in a Preliminary Feasibility Study (PFS). Critical 
Metals will advance site selection studies, approvals and managing the SSAB 
relationship. 

The Study referred to in this report is based on low-level technical and economic assessments and is insufficient to provide definitive assurance of an 
economic development case, or to provide certainty that the conclusions of the Study will be realised. Further detailed studies will be required to determine 
the feasibility and viability of a commercial-scale project. 

  

Figure 1. Key Highlights of the Study  
(all figures expressed on a 100% ownership basis) 
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Background 

Neometals has developed a proprietary processing method to recover 
vanadium from steel slags. This hydrometallurgical process utilises 
conventional equipment and operates at atmospheric pressure and mild 
temperatures. Metallurgical test work to optimise the flowsheet is underway 
in Perth, Western Australia and subject to meeting ongoing milestones, is 
planned to be piloted as part of ongoing studies. 

In April 2018 Critical Metals executed a conditional agreement (Slag 
Supply Agreement) with SSAB, a steel producer that operates steel mills 
in Scandinavia, to acquire Slag produced as by-product at SSAB’s 
operations. The Slag Supply Agreement provides a secure basis for the 
evaluation of the Vanadium Recovery Project which will be capable of 
processing 200,000 tonnes of Slag per annum (with a reference grade of 
3.93% V2O5, being the reference grade for pricing under the Slag Supply 
Agreement) without the need to build a mine and concentrator like existing 
primary producers.  

Bench scale batch test work has been performed by an independent 
metallurgical service provider on Slag samples obtained from SSAB’s 
operations in Sweden and Finland. The information from the bench scale 
metallurgical test work was captured in a process design criteria and mass 
balance and was utilised by consulting engineers Primero Group to develop 
AACE Class 5 order of magnitude (-35 to +50%) operating cost (OPEX) 
and capital cost (CAPEX) numbers for a 200,000 tonnes per annum (tpa) 
hydrometallurgical processing circuit.  

Study Outcomes  

Although a final location for the Vanadium Recovery Project is yet to be 
chosen, the Study estimate was based on establishing an operation at 
Luleå in northern Sweden.  

Financial Summary  

Key highlights from the Study (200,000tpa feed rate) are summarised 
below. Financial analysis and estimates are denominated in US$ using an 
exchange rate of US$0.693. The Study assumes a selling price of 
US$8.64/lb V2O5. This selling price is based on the long term mean price 
for vanadium pentoxide between January 2004 and March 2020 (source 
TTP Squared Inc). 

Scoping Study Highlights 

Annual Production  12.12 mlbs V2O5 

Life of Plant (LOP)  10.5 years 

Life of Plant Revenue  
US$ 1,099 

million 

Pre-tax Operating Cashflow  US$ 573 million 

Pre-tax NPV (10% discount rate) US$ 138 million 

Average Net Operating Cost of recovered V2O5 US$3.92/lb  

Total initial capital costs  US$159 million 

Payback of capital costs  <5 years 

Table 1. Scoping Study Highlights (all tables expressed on a 100% ownership basis) 

Figure 2 highlights the competitive operating cost of the Vanadium 
Recovery Project, with a first quartile position on the industry operating cost 
curve (excluding royalties, taxes, depreciation, and amortisation). 

 
Figure 2. 2020 Vanadium Operating Cost Curve 

(all figures expressed on a 100% ownership basis) 

Development Scenario  

The development scenario for this Study is characterised by: 
 Greenfields development starting with a cleared industrial site Luleå, 

Sweden 
 Plant with a throughput capacity of 200,000 tpa 
 Feedstock comprising steel by-product Slag with a grade of 3.93% 

V2O5 (being the reference grade for pricing under the Slag Supply 
Agreement) 

Feed Preparation  

Slag material (predominantly less than 10mm in size) is received and 
screened prior to being placed through a comminution circuit.  

Processing Flowsheet  

The process flowsheet was developed by Neometals with assistance from 
an independent metallurgical laboratory. The process, for which a 
provisional patent has been applied for, is based on conventional 
equipment and configuration, employing novel chemistry, operated at 
atmospheric pressure and mild temperatures. The feed, referred to as Slag, 
is processed in the leach circuit to facilitate dissolution of the vanadium 
from the feed. The pregnant leach solution (PLS) is then separated from 
the solid leach residue. Further extraction and purification of PLS results in 
the recovery of vanadium which is further processed through into vanadium 
pentoxide. 

 

Project Location  

For the purpose of cost assumptions, the design assumes that the entire plant will be based inside a newly constructed industrial building. Luleå was used 
as a reference location with plant offices, administration, ablutions facilities and a laboratory included in the scope. The Study assumed that water, reagents, 
natural gas and electricity are all available at the site boundary.  

The geographical location for the ultimate commercial-scale plant will be finalised during commercial negotiations. Several sites in both Sweden and Finland 
are being evaluated. 

Figure 3. High level flowsheet for Vanadium Recovery from Slag  
(all figures expressed on a 100% ownership basis) 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

10 | CRITICAL METALS LTD 2020 ANNUAL REPORT 

Capital Cost Estimate  

Processing  

Primero developed the capital estimate for the process and facility and 
based the -35% / +50% capital estimate for the process plant on budget 
price estimates from equipment suppliers.  

Capital US$M 

Direct – Buildings and Process Plant 113 

Indirect – EPCM etc 19 

Contingency (20%) 27 

Total 159 

Table 2. Capital Cost Estimate (all tables expressed on a 100% ownership basis) 

Operating Cost Estimate  

The Vanadium Recovery Project operating cost was estimated by major 
cost type and is considered an AACE Class 5 level estimate with a nominal 
accuracy of -35 to + 50 %. The estimated operating cost (OPEX) excluding 
royalties is less than US$ 3.92 /lb V2O5. 

 
Figure 4. Operational cost breakdown by key areas 

(all figures expressed on a 100% ownership basis) 

Economic Analysis  

A comprehensive discounted cash flow analysis completed as part of the 
Study provided an indication of the potential of the project. The analysis 
makes the following assumptions: 

• No allowance was made for tax 
• No allowance was made for inflation 
• NPV is calculated against the full capital cost of process plant and 

does not allow for debt or any other type of funding of the project 

Additional important economic and technical  
assumption inputs are summarised below: 

• 73.5% recovery of V2O5 
• Pricing of V2O5 based on US$ 8.64 / lb  

(flat long-term forecast) 

Scheduling of Development and Production  

For the purposes of this study the following assumptions have been made 
with respect to development and production: 

Financial Investment Decision  
(date of NPV calculation) 

1 December 2022 

Commence Construction 1 June 2023 

Finish Construction 30 November 2024 

Commence Operations 1 December 2024 

Ramp up of operations - 25% of throughput first quarter, 50% second and 
third quarter and 75% fourth quarter. 200,000 tpa feed rate from fifth 
quarter. Total processed over life of operation 2,000,000 tonnes of feed. 

Availability of Project Finance  

Investors should note that there is no certainty that Critical and or 
Neometals will be able to raise the required funding when needed, 
however, the Company believes that there is a reasonable basis to assume 
that funding will be available given: 

• the combined Critical Metals and Neometals Boards and 
executive teams have a strong financing track record in 
developing projects; 

• Neometals has a strong balance sheet and proven ability to 
attract new capital and supportive investors; 

• the Study’s financial metrics are positive and the underlying 
demand growth for the product suite is strong; and 

• Institutional investors are supportive of the recovery of metals 
from residues/by-products rather than traditional mining.  

Funding for the Vanadium Recovery Plant would be underpinned by sales 
agreements resulting from the successful operation of a pilot plant and 
generation of commercial samples for evaluation by end users. A mixture 
of equity and conceivably some layered debt structures, such as 
debentures or conventional secured debt funding, along with a minor 
portion of offtake/working capital finance, is a realistic assumption. The 
technical risks are considerably reduced compared to a standard mining 
development, but the sales price risk would depend on the nature of the 
sales agreements and the credit worthiness of the entities behind them. It 
should be noted that credit and equity markets can be volatile and that the 
required funding may only be available on terms that may be dilutive to or 
otherwise affect the value of Critical Metals and Neometals existing 
shares. 

Project Sensitivities  

A sensitivity analysis on the pre-tax NPV is provided in Figure 5. 

 

  

5%

56%
6%

17%

16%

OPEX

Power

Consumables

Maintenance

General, Admin &
Other

Labour

 -

 100

 200

 300

 (20%)  (15%)  (10%)  (5%)  -   5%   10%   15%   20%   25%   30%

Pr
e-

ta
x 

Pr
oj

ec
t N

PV

Change from Base Case

NPV10 (USDm)

Capex

Opex

Grade
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Market and Marketing  

World vanadium supply is dominated by China, Russia, and South 
Africa. With the inherent advantages that come with Slag as a 
feedstock (low cost and no mining risk) and the competitive operating 
cost position driven by the patent pending hydrometallurgical 
process, Critical Metals believes the Vanadium Recovery Project is 
extremely well positioned to service European and North American 
markets.  

Next Steps 

• Chose preferred site for project 
• Complete metallurgical test work for PFS  
• Complete JORC report for Slag samples from SSAB Luleå 

stockpiles to support Class 4 Study PFS  
• Commence Class 4 Engineering Cost Study work package 

of the PFS 
• Advance discussions with potential offtake partners and financiers, targeting financiers with a focus on sustainable recovery of metals from non-

mining sources 

 

Figure 7. Indicative Timeline for the Slag Recovery Project (all figures expressed on a 100% ownership basis) 

LiB Recycling 

Highlights 

• Critical Metals holds the sole and exclusive rights to sustainable process for the recovery of valuable constituents from cell production scrap and 
end-of-life lithium-ion batteries (LIBs) in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, and Finland. The patent pending process is owned by project developer 
Neometals Ltd  

• The recycling process targets the recovery of >90% of valuable materials from consumer electronic batteries (devices with lithium cobalt oxide 
(LCO) cathodes), and nickel‐rich electric vehicle and stationary storage battery chemistries (lithium‐nickel-manganese‐cobalt (NMC) cathodes). 

• Neometals’ pilot plant (“Pilot”) validated earlier bench scale assumptions with high recoveries of the targeted suite of cathode active elements and 
refined them into high purity chemicals for re-use in the battery supply chain. 

• Critical Metals aims to deploy the technology in the licensed jurisdictions and derive revenue from provision of recycling services, and sale of 
recovered cobalt, nickel, lithium, copper, iron, aluminium, manganese into saleable products. 

• Separate to the technology license agreement between Critical Metals and Neometals, Neometals is finalising definitive legal agreements with 
large privately owned German engineering firm SMS Group GmbH (SMS) for a 50:50 LIB recycling joint venture to commercialise the Neometals 
technology. The joint venture is called Primobius, www.primobius.com. 

• Critical Metals is free-carried by Neometals through to Final Investment Decision on the first commercial LIB recycling plant. 
• Sweden, Norway, Denmark, and Finland have experienced high penetration of electric vehicles due to government incentives and a strong recycling 

culture.  

The information that follows has been released into the public domain by Neometals Ltd. 

Successful completion of the Pilot, which commenced in February 2019, represented a significant commercial milestone for the Neometals recycling 
technology. Objectives were met and surpassed, no fatal technical flaws arose, and the Company now has  the data to commence feasibility level studies 
and proposed demonstration trials (Demonstration Trial) in Europe.  

The Pilot, represented part of  the pre-development activities  for a proposed commercial LIB  recycling venture to recover LIB materials from electric vehicle 
and consumer electronics cells. Neometals successfully shredded and processed 2.3 tonnes of spent commercial LIBs during the ‘Feed Preparation’ stage 
of the Pilot. A total of 980 kg of shredded and upgraded cathode and anode material (Black Powder) were fed into the subsequent ‘Hydrometallurgical 
Processing’ stage from which cathode materials were recovered and refined into high‐purity chemical products. 

Figure 6. Metallurgical sample drill rig on Slag stockpile at SSAB Luleå  
(all figures expressed on a 100% ownership basis) 
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During the Pilot: 

• the lithium extraction campaign successfully recovered lithium leaving only ammonium sulphate in the depleted solution for crystallisation as 
ammonium sulphate (Amsul). The remaining water will be recycled; 

• the cobalt and nickel sulphate solutions were successfully purified 
and crystallised to generate cobalt and nickel sulphate solids at 
specifications suitable for cathode production; and   

• the data was modelled in a Metsim mass/energy balance and 
documented in a comprehensive test report. 

SMS’s skill set and global presence will further enhance value and lower risk 
as Neometals prepares to showcase its offering to the market in a Commercial 
Demonstration Plant in Europe, the region with the fastest growing battery cell 
production capacity. Critical Metals will be able to leverage off the 
Demonstration Plant by showcasing it to potential suppliers of LIBs in the 
licensed territories. 

Critical Metals aims to earn revenue by independently processing waste 
lithium ion batteries, selling high-purity metals ‘produced’ from recycling waste 
LiBs, toll treating waste lithium ion batteries on behalf of collectives, existing 
recycling companies and importers & distributors of electronic and electric 
equipment and creating joint venture initiatives with National Government, 
local Kommuns, recycling companies, collectives and importers & distributors 
of electronic and electric equipment. 

Background - The Industry  

LIB recycling sees metallurgical and mechanical processes used separately, 
or in combination, to recover valuable metals and materials from end of life and production scrap LIBs. Concerns 
regarding the efficiency of processing and the need to sustainably dispose and recover potentially hazardous materials 
sets the stage for huge LIB recycling opportunities. The Neometals LIB recycling process targets the predominant LIB 
chemistries, with LCO (lithium cobalt oxide) and NMC/NCA (nickel manganese cobalt/nickel cobalt aluminium) cathode batteries targeted from electric 
vehicles, energy storage systems and from consumer electronics. 

While the use of LIB anode materials generally remains constant, cathode compositions tend to differ based on end use application and performance 
requirements. The key minerals targeted for recovery by Neometals are as follows: 

• Lithium; 
• Cobalt; 

• Nickel; 
• Copper; 

• Iron; 
• Aluminium; 

• Graphite; and 
• Manganese. 

Plastics, aluminium foil (the cathode substrate) and copper foil (the anode substrate) are separated early. The balance of materials are recovered and refined 
into industrial and high purity chemicals for sale, where possible, directly back into the LIB supply chain. 

The Value Chain 

The LIB value chain diagram below shows the relationship between participants starting at chemical manufacture (using recycled material feed or refined 
minerals) and works its way to consumer products, disposal and recycling to support the notion of a ‘circular economy’. 

Applications by Neometals target battery chemistry: 

• Portable Electronics – cathodes comprising lithium cobalt oxide (“LCO”) are the preferred technology in portable consumer electronics; and 
• Electric Vehicles – cathodes supporting batteries that deliver strong energy density for extended driving range are trending towards the base metal 

rich nickel-manganese-cobalt (“NMC”) and nickel-cobalt-aluminium (“NCA”) types. 

Recovered scrap materials: 

• Plastic for applications like road 
base 

• Steel for scrap 
• Aluminium foil for scrap 
• Copper foil for scrap 

Key recycling service partners: 

• Consumer electronics companies 
• Electronic waste aggregators and 

collectors 
• Automotive companies 

 

Chemical product sales: 

• Cathode precursor and LIB 
manufacturers 

• Chemical companies 

  

Source: Neometals Ltd website 
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Supply & Demand 

LIB recycling market is part of several segments. Supply and demand can be looked at under the following categories: 

1. LIBs 

There is little argument from analysts and 
industry participants that LIB demand is expected 
to grow very strongly as we see the following 
unfold: 

• ticket price parity for electric and internal 
combustion engine (ICE) vehicles; 

• capacity expansions for the production 
of refined chemicals used in battery 
electrodes; 

• commissioning of the next wave of 
planned LIB mega-factories; and 

• the arrival of deadlines set by countries 
and vehicle manufacturers to phase out 
ICE vehicles. 

Supply of LIBs is dictated by a need for forward 
looking cohesion across the supply chain where 
future demand requires stakeholder expansion 
decisions many years in advance. In 2019 the 
market is confronting the growing prospect of 
mineral and material supply deficits  as the EV 
revolution gathers pace. 

2. The urban resource 

In 2019 the demand for production scrap and end 
of life industrial LIB batteries is thought to outstrip 
supply. EV adoption is at the early stages of 
predicted strong growth and given the warranted 
lifecycle of LIBs and the potential for re-use in 
some circumstances, large volumes of LIB 
recycling feed are yet to hit the market. Demand 
however is often based on nameplate plant 
capacities and vagaries exist with respect to LIB 
reporting and quantities of production scrap 
which is unlikely to be deemed as finished 
product. 

3. Assessments of future LIB megafactory 
output show forecast capacity increasing by 
up to 600% in cell capacity measures. Even 
conservative predictions are suggesting a 
requirement for battery chemicals, and in 
turn mineral concentrates, exceeding by 
many orders of magnitude current available 
supply. The profound impact of EV driven 
demand for tomorrows LIBs is predicted to 
put significant pressure on supplies of the 
key mineral ingredients as per the image 
supplied by Benchmark Minerals below: 

Outlook 

Analyst consensus shows clear trends highlighting material expansion to 
LIB demand due to growing electric vehicle and home energy storage sales 
penetration together with greater consumption of consumer electronics. 

The global adoption of LIB continues at a rapid pace and the direct result 
will be a massive volume increase in production scrap and end-of-life LIBs. 
An unchanging constant is that LIBs will eventually fail, be re-used, and 
scrap will be generated during manufacture. 

Governments world-wide are legislating and planning to legislate 
compulsory lithium battery recycling to improve disposal, inefficient 
incumbent recycling methods, reduce fire risk and support responsible 
recovery of their valuable constituents. Creation of an ethical and 
sustainable supply chain is important for economic, environmental and 
energy value chain security reasons. 

According to Circular Energy Storage, the market for LIB recycling is 
expected to grow to USD$3.5 billion in 2025. 
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Mineral Exploration  

Critical Metals has two wholly owned subsidiary companies, Critical Metals Scandinavia AB (CMSAB) and Kiruna Iron AB (KIAB). The following minerals 
project are registered in the Swedish subsidiaries. 

Lapland (Sweden) 

The Lapland Project is in Pajala Municipality in Norrbotten County. It 
represents a highly prospective, unexplored potential new mineral province, 
and the exploration targets have high ore potential. Economic mineralisation 
could potentially include massive to disseminated copper-nickel-platinum 
group element (PGE), stratiform chrome, reef style PGE, iron-titanium-
vanadium, hydrothermal gold-copper, iron oxide-copper-gold mineralisation 
and rare earth element mineralisation within pegmatites. 

The Lapland Project covers a significant portion of the most conspicuous 
anomaly in the Swedish geophysical database, the large positive gravity 
anomaly (40-50mgal) referred to as the Muonionalusta Gravity High (MGH). 
Geophysical interpretation by independent consultants suggests the MGH 
is related to a major deep-seated mafic intrusive complex. The closest 
analogy to this geological model are the Nova-Bollinger deposits located in 
the Fraser Range, Western Australia. 

A structural interpretation of magnetic datasets was completed during the 
year. The aim of the exercise was to identify potential pathways for hot fluids 
from the intrusive to rise to the surface. More recently a second regional site 
visit was completed aimed at locating outcropping rocks confirming the 
geological models. Due to the extensive moraine cover and very limited 
outcrop within the project area an airborne electromagnetic survey is 
proposed to identify conductive bodies that may represent sulphides hosting 
mineralisation. 

The project is located outside of Natura 2000 conservation areas. 

Pahtohavare (Sweden) 

The Pahtohavare Project is located approximately 8km from Kiruna, in 
Norrbotten County. The project hosts a 2.3Mt @ 1.74% Cu, 0.6 g/t Au JORC 
Resource in the inferred category with significant exploration upside beneath 
the existing shallow oxide deposit and beneath lowest mined levels (150m) 
of two historic underground copper mines. CMSAB is free-carried (to 35%) 
by joint venture partner Lovisagruvan AB to a decision to mine. The joint 
venture partners are aiming to create a long-life sustainable mining centre 
that is environmentally and socially acceptable to stakeholders. The concept 
is that the ore would be processed at site or via toll treatment. The next step 
is the collection of additional environmental data prior to lodgement of an 
exploitation concession application and environmental permit. 

One key permit at Pahtohavare has not been renewed by the Bergsstaten. 
The responsibility for maintaining the permit in good standing rests with joint 
venture partner Lovisagruvan AB. The joint venture partner is preparing an 
application to appeal to the decision of the Bergsstaten. There is a possibility 
that this permit will be lost to the joint venture and the status of the project 
and joint venture will need to be reviewed. 

Soidinvaara (Finland) 

The Soidinvaara project is located approximately 140kms north-east of 
Oulu, Finland in the Pudasjärvi and Taivalkoski Municipalities. All historic 
data has now been reviewed, historic drill core re-assayed and Davis Tube 
Recovery metallurgical test work completed. A site visit was also completed 
to locate historic drill collars in the field and view outcropping geology. A 
historic airborne magnetic survey has been reprocessed and a modern 
ground magnetic survey completed over the highest magnetic responses. 
An application for an exploration permit to commence ground disturbing 
exploration activities (drilling) has now been lodged. The focus of exploration 
drilling and future metallurgical test work will be to determine whether the 
ore can be used to produce vanadium electrolyte for the Redox Flow battery 
market. The Company is seeking a joint venture partner to fund the next 
round of exploration. Soidinvaara is located outside of Natura 2000. 

The following minerals projects are registered in the name of Swedish 
registered, wholly owned subsidiary company KIAB incorporated in June 
2010. 

Paljasjärvi (Sweden) 

The Paljasjärvi Project is located 80kms northeast of Kiruna in Norrbotten 
County. Paljasjärvi has the potential to be a large, long-life (+25 year) 
project. Paljasjärvi (3.5km long and 30m thick) is the 2nd most intense 
magnetic feature in northern Sweden behind Kirunavaara (4km long and 
80m thick) which hosts the 2Bt Kiruna iron mine owned by LKAB. Magnetite 
skarn mineralisation was confirmed by historic drilling in 1963 (6 holes). 
Modern metallurgical test work (DTR) on the historic core confirmed the ore 
upgrades to +69% Fe (tests went up to 72% Fe) with low Si, Al, and P. 
Social, environmental, infrastructure, marketing, processing, mining and 
exploration related investigations are at early stages. The next step is to 
complete exploration drilling to generate a JORC compliant inferred mineral 
resource and establish an environmental baseline. Paljasjärvi is located 
outside Natura 2000 conservation areas. KIAB will continue to advance this 
project to capitalise on potential improved sentiment towards iron ore 
projects in Sweden. 

 

 

 

Funding 

Critical Metals raised $415,000 in new equity at a price of 20 cents per share and $385,000 in new equity at a price of 25 cents per share, resulting in the 
issue of 3,615,000 fully paid ordinary shares during the year. 

CMSAB and KIAB are reliant of loan funds from within its corporate structure to maintain its operations, and this financial arrangement continued throughout 
the year. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 

The Group began the financial year with cash reserve of $29,167. 

During the year total exploration expenditure expensed by the Group amounted to $191,647 (2019: $199,116). The exploration expenditures relate to non 
JORC compliant mineral resource projects and this has been expensed in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. In addition, exploration expenditure 
relating to expenditure on JORC compliant mineral resource project amounted to $33,537 (2019: $54,141) was capitalised in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. Impairment assessment is carried out at each reporting date by evaluating the conditions specific to the Group and the assets that may 
lead to impairment. The Group impaired $1,039,637 of the capitalised exploration expenditure during the year (2019: $nil) in line with the assessment of the 
Group. This has no impact on the Group’s cash position. The net administration (i.e. all non-exploration related) expenditure incurred by the Group amounted 
to $1,033,228 (2019: $631,041), which included employment expenses of $404,520 (2019: $372,869) and consultants expenses of $142,018 (2019: 
$195,789). This has resulted in an operating loss after income tax for the period ended 30 June 2020 of $2,233,968 (2019: loss $826,650). 

As at 30 June 2020 cash and cash equivalents totalled $580,150. 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

The corporate structure of Critical Metals Ltd group at the date of this report is as follows:  

 

  

CRITICAL METALS LTD

LIB RECYCLING PTY LTD SCANDINAVIAN RESOURCES PTY LTD

CRITICAL METALS SCANDINAVIA AB

CRITICAL METALS SCANDINAVIA AB 
FILIAL I FINLAND

KIRUNA IRON AB RECYCLING INDUSTRIES 
SCANDINAVIA AB

100% 

100% 100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 
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COMPLIANCE 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that activities are aligned with the risks and 
opportunities identified by the Board. 

The Company believes that it is crucial for all Board members to be part of this process, and as such the Board has not established a separate risk 
management committee. 

The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure management’s objectives and activities are aligned by the Board. These include the Board 
approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses strategy statements designed to meet stakeholders needs and manage business risk and implementation 
of Board approved operating plans and Board monitoring of the progress against budgets. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of 
the Group, the results of those operations, or state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 

The Group expects to maintain the present status and level of operations and hence there are no likely developments in the Group’s operations. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 

The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its exploration activities. 

The Group aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, that it’s aware of and is in compliance with all 
environmental legislation. The Directors of the Group are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the year under review. 

OPTIONS 

As at the date of this report, the options on issue to purchase ordinary shares were as follows (2019: 4,850,000). 

• 6,500,000 options to purchase ordinary shares at $0.30; and

• 1,000,000 options to purchase ordinary shares at $0.40.

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue of the Company or any related body corporate. 

INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITOR 

During or since the end of the financial year the Company has not given an indemnity or entered into an agreement to indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay 
insurance premiums on behalf of the directors. 

DIVIDENDS 

No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year and no recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 

NON–AUDIT SERVICES 

During the year, neither Stantons International or any of its associated entities provided any non–audit services to the Group. 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any proceedings to which the Group is a party for the 
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or any part of those proceedings. 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

The auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is included on page 17. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Damian Hicks 
Executive Director 
Perth, Australia this 26th day of August 2020 
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The Directors declare that: 

(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable; 

(b) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including
compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2 and giving a true and fair
view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity for the financial period ended on that date;

(c) the remuneration disclosures set out in the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and the
Corporations Act and Regulations 2001; and 

(d) the Directors have been given the declarations required by s 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Damian Hicks 
Executive Director 
Perth, Australia this 26th day of August 2020 
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Note  
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

Other income 4(a) 30,544 3,507

Employee expense (404,520) (372,869)

Share-based payments (425,686) –

Depreciation expense (601) (1,307)

Consultants expenses (142,018) (195,789)

Interest expenses (4,784) (5)

Occupancy expenses (3,526) (3,572)

Marketing expenses (1,615) (4,538)

Exploration and evaluation expenses (191,647) (199,116)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenses (1,039,637) –

Other expenses  (50,478) (52,961)

Loss from continuing operations  
before income tax benefit (2,233,968) (826,650)

Income tax benefit 5 – – 

Loss from continuing operations attributable  
to members of the parent entity  (2,233,968) (826,650)

Other comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period 

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss 

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations 12,126 24,779

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 12,126 24,779 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss – – 

Total other comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period 12,126 24,779

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period (2,221,842) (801,871)

Net loss attributable to the parent entity (2,233,968) (826,650)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to the parent entity (2,221,842) (801,871)

Loss per share: 

Basic (cents per share) 17 (6.60) (2.56) 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. 
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Note  
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 24  580,150 29,167 

Trade and other receivables 8  13,792 36,264 

Total current assets   593,942 65,431 

     

Non–current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 9  – 596 

Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 10  359,216 1,350,190 

Total non–current assets   359,216 1,350,786 

TOTAL ASSETS   953,158 1,416,217 

     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 11  963,710 434,344 

Provisions 12  8,080 7,674 

Other financial liabilities 13  236,074 232,078 

Total current liabilities   1,207,864 674,096 

     

Non–current liabilities     

Other financial liabilities 13  1 1 

Total non–current liabilities   1 1 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   1,207,865 674,097 

NET ASSETS   (254,707) 742,120 

     

Equity     

Issued capital 14  3,267,572 2,468,243 

Reserves 15  439,296 108,126 

Accumulated losses 16  (3,961,575) (1,834,249) 

TOTAL EQUITY   (254,707) 742,120 

 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. 
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 Attributable to equity holders 

For the period ended  
30 June 2020 

Ordinary  
Shares 

$ 

Option 
Reserves 

$ 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserves 

$ 

Accumulated 
Losses 

$ 

Total 
Equity 

$ 

Balance as at 1 July 2019 2,468,243 106,642 1,484 (1,834,249) 742,120 

      

Total comprehensive income      

Loss for the period – – – (2,233,968) (2,233,968) 

Other comprehensive  
profit for the period – – 12,126 – 12,126 

Total comprehensive  
profit/(loss) for the period – – 12,126 (2,233,968) (2,221,842) 

Transactions with owners  
recorded direct to equity      

Issue of shares 800,000 – – – 800,000 

Share based payments – 425,686 – – 425,686 

Lapse of options – (106,642) – 106,642 – 

Share issue costs  (671) – – – (671) 

Total transactions with owners 799,329 319,044 – 106,642 1,225,015 

Balance as at 30 June 2020 3,267,572 425,686 13,610 (3,961,575) (254,707) 

 

 Attributable to equity holders 

For the period ended  
30 June 2019 

Ordinary  
Shares 

$ 

Option 
Reserves 

$ 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserves 

$ 

Accumulated 
Losses 

$ 

Total 
Equity 

$ 

Balance as at 1 July 2018 2,468,243 106,642 (23,295) (1,007,599) 1,543,991 

      

Total comprehensive income      

Loss for the period – – – (826,650) (826,650) 

Other comprehensive  
profit for the period – – 24,779 – 24,779 

Total comprehensive  
profit/(loss) for the period – – 24,779 (826,650) (801,871) 

Transactions with owners  
recorded direct to equity   

 
  

Issue of shares – – – – – 

Options expenses – – – – – 

Share issue costs  – – – – – 

Total transactions with owners – – – – – 

Balance as at 30 June 2019 2,468,243 106,642 1,484 (1,834,249) 742,120 

 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. 
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Note  
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Receipts from customers   25,000 – 

Payments for exploration and evaluation   (108,798) (154,806) 

Payments to suppliers and employees   (126,249) (292,686) 

Interest received   271 2,045 

Interest paid   (4,784) – 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 24(b)  (214,560) (445,447) 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Payments for exploration and evaluation   (33,537) (54,141) 

Net cash (used in) investing activities   (33,537) (54,141) 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issues of equity securities   800,000 – 

Payment for share issue costs   (671) – 

Net cash provided by financing activities   799,329 – 

     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   551,232 (499,588) 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period   29,167 528,853 

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held   (249) (98) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period 24(a)  580,150 29,167 

 
The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. 
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1. General Information 

Critical Metals Ltd (the Company) is a unlisted public company, domiciled and incorporated in Australia. 

The Group’s registered office and its principal place of business are as follows: 

Registered office   Principal place of business 

Level 11, 216 St Georges Tc  Level 11, 216 St Georges Tc 

Perth WA 6000  Perth WA 6000 

2. Statement of significant accounting policies

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has 
been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other 
requirements of the law. The financial report includes the financial 
statements of the consolidated entity (Group) comprising the 
Company, Scandinavian Resources Pty Ltd, LiB Recycling Pty Ltd, 
Critical Metals Scandinavia AB, Kiruna Iron AB, Recycling 
Industries Scandinavia AB and Critical Metals Scandinavia AB Filial 
i Finland. Separate financial statements for Critical Metals Ltd as an 
individual entity are no longer presented as the consequence of a 
change to the Corporations Act 2001. 

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (A–IFRS). Compliance 
with the A–IFRS ensures that the consolidated and parent financial 
statements and notes of the Group and parent entity comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors 
on 25 August 2020. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
financial report are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, except as noted 
below. 

(a) Basis of preparation 

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis 
and is based on historical cost, except for certain financial 
assets and liabilities which are carried at fair value. Cost is 
based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange 
for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, 
unless otherwise noted. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in 
preparing the financial statements for the period ended  
30 June 2020. 

Going concern basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial report has been prepared on the 
going concern basis that contemplates the continuity of normal 
business activities and the realisation and extinguishment of 
liabilities in the ordinary courses of business. 

For the period ended 30 June 2020 the Group incurred a loss 
of $2,233,968 (2019: loss $826,650) and had a working capital 
deficit of $613,922 (2019: deficit $608,665). Based upon the 
Group’s existing cash resources of $580,150 (2019: $29,167) 
as at 30 June 2020, the ability to modify expenditure outlays if 
required, and the Directors’ confidence of sourcing additional 
funds, the Directors consider there are reasonable grounds 

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 

to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable, and therefore the going 
concern basis of preparation is considered to be appropriate 
for the Group’s financial report. 

The Board of Directors is aware, having prepared a cashflow 
forecast, of the Group’s working capital requirements and the 
Group needs to has sufficient funds to continue minimal 
operations for the next 12 months. However the Directors are 
aware that access to additional equity funding to repay the 
existing related party loan and to expand its operations. 

In the event that the Group is not able to continue as a going 
concern, it may be required to realise assets and extinguish 
liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at 
amounts different to those stated in its financial report. 

(b) New Accounting Standards for Application in the Current 
Financial Year and Future Periods 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements are consistent with those followed in the 
preparation of the Company’s annual financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2019 except for the new accounting 
standards stated below.  

The Group has considered the implications of new and 
amended Accounting Standards which have become 
applicable for the current financial reporting period. The Group 
had to change its accounting policies and make adjustments 
as a result of adopting the following standard: 

AASB 16 Leases 

The Group has adopted AASB 16: Leases retrospectively with 
the cumulative effect of initially applying AASB 16 recognised 
as 1 July 2019. In accordance with AASB 16, the comparatives 
for the 2019 reporting period have not been restated. 

AASB16 requires the recognition of a lease liability and right-
of-use asset for all leases (with exception of short-term and low 
value leases) recognised as operating leases under AASB 
117: Leases where the Group is a lessee. 

The adoption of AASB 16 does not have significant impact on 
the financial report as the Group’s leases had a lease term of 
shorter than 12 months or were leases of ‘low-value’ assets. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in 
banks and investments in money market instruments, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. 
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2. Statement of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d) Employee benefits 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect 
of wages and salaries and annual leave when it is probable that 
settlement will be required and they are capable of being 
measured reliably. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected 
to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal 
values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the 
time of settlement. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are 
not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as 
the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made by the entity in respect of services provided by 
employees up to reporting date. 

(e) Financial instruments 

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument. Financial instruments (except for trade 
receivables) are measured initially at fair value adjusted by 
transactions costs, except for those carried “at fair value 
through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are 
expensed to profit or loss. Where available, quoted prices in an 
active market are used to determine the fair value. In other 
circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. Subsequent 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
described below.  

Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price 
if the receivables do not contain a significant financing 
component in accordance with AASB 15. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the 
financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are 
transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is 
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets  

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a 
significant financing component and are measured at the 
transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial 
assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for 
transaction costs (where applicable). 

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets 
other than those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments, are classified into the following categories upon 
initial recognition:  

• amortised cost;  

• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); 
and  

• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).  

Classifications are determined by both:  

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 
assets; and  

• the entities business model for managing the financial 
asset.  

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 

Financial assets at amortised cost  

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets 
meet the following conditions (and are not designated as 
FVPL):  

• they are held within a business model whose objective is 
to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual 
cash flows; and  

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted 
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash 
and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into 
this category of financial instruments. 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through 
OCI if both of the following conditions are met: 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; 
and 

• the financial asset is held within a business model with 
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash 
flows and selling the financial asset. 

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, 
foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or 
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured 
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are 
recognised in OCI. 

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify 
irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments 
designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the 
definition of equity under AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and are not held for trading.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include 
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated 
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or 
financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair 
value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they 
are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term.  

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, 
where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the 
Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit 
or loss. 
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2. Statement of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method except for derivatives 
and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried 
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss. 

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, gains and losses 
arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.  

Impairment  

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected 
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at 
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies 
the simplified approach permitted by AASB, which requires 
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial 
recognition of the receivables. 

(f) Financial instruments issued by the Company 

Debt and equity instruments 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities 
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. 

Transaction costs on the issue of equity instruments 

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are 
recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of 
the equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction 
costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection with 
the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have 
been incurred had those instruments not been issued. 

(g) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from 
the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; 
or 

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised 
inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross 
basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 

(h) Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the 
asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from 
other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash–generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

(h) Impairment of assets (cont’d) 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre–tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash–generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash–
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

(i) Tax 

Current tax 

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income 
taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or 
tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is 
recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid 
(or refundable). 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the statement of financial 
position liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding 
tax base of those items. 

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will 
be available against which deductible temporary differences or 
unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a 
business combination) which affects neither taxable income 
nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not 
recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising 
from goodwill. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, branches, 
associates and joint ventures except where the entity is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with these investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to 
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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2. Statement of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(i) Tax (cont’d) 

Deferred tax (cont’d) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and 
liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax 
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the entity expects, at the 
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a 
net basis. 

Current and deferred tax for the period 

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or 
income in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, except when it relates to items 
credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred 
tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from 
the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case 
it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill or 
excess. 

Tax consolidation 

Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its 
Australian resident wholly owned entities, to elect to 
consolidate and be treated as a single entity for income tax 
purposes was substantively enacted on 21 October 2002. The 
Company and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries 
have implemented the tax consolidation legislation in August 
2016 with Critical Metals Ltd as the head entity. 

(j) Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is expensed 
immediately to the profit and loss where the applicable area of 
interest does not contain a JORC compliant mineral resource. 
Where the area of interest contains a JORC compliant mineral 
resource exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised. 
These costs are carried forward only if they relate to an area of 
interest for which rights of tenure are current and in respect of 
which: 

i. such costs are expected to be recouped through 
successful development and exploitation or from sale of 
the area; or 

ii. exploration and evaluation activities in the area have not, 
at balance date, reached a stage which permits a 
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable reserves, and active operations 
in, or relating to, the area are continuing. 

Accumulated costs in respect of areas of interest which are 
abandoned are written off in full against profit or loss in the year 
in which the decision to abandon the area is made. A regular 
review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the 
appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation 
to that area of interest. 

Notwithstanding the fact that a decision not to abandon an area 
of interest has been made, based on the above, the exploration 
and evaluation expenditure in relation to an area may still be 
written off if considered appropriate to do so. 

(k) Joint arrangements 

Interests in Joint Arrangements 

Joint arrangements represent the contractual sharing of control 
between parties in a business venture where unanimous 
decisions about relevant activities are required. 

Separate joint venture entities providing joint venturers with an 
interest to net assets are classified as a "joint venture" and 
accounted for using the equity method. 

Joint venture operations 

Joint venture operations represent arrangements whereby joint 
operators maintain direct interests in each asset and exposure 
to each liability of the arrangement. The Group's interests in 
the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint operations 
are included in the respective line items of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Gains and losses resulting from sales to a joint operation are 
recognised to the extent of the other parties' interests. When 
the Group makes purchases from a joint operation, it does not 
recognise its share of the gains and losses from the joint 
arrangement until it resells those goods/assets to a third party. 

(l) Operating cycle 

The operating cycle of the entity coincides with the annual 
reporting cycle. 

(m) Payables 

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised 
when the entity becomes obliged to make future payments 
resulting from the purchase of goods and services. 

(n) Foreign currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian Dollars, which is Critical Metals Ltd’s functional and 
presentation currency. 

Transactions and balance 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 
functional currency (Australian Dollars (AUD), Swedish Krona 
(SEK) and Euro (EUR)) by applying the exchange rates ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 
determined. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary 
items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of 
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the 
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are 
recognised in other comprehensive income until the net 
investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative 
amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits 
attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items 
are also recorded in other comprehensive income. 
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2. Statement of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(n) Foreign currency translation (cont’d) 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of 
non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line 
with the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of 
the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value 
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or 
profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or profit or loss, respectively). 

Group companies 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations 
are translated into dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at 
the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation 
for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of 
other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognised in profit or loss. 

(o) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the 
assets, liabilities and results of the Company (the parent entity) 
and all of the subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities the parent 
controls. The parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. 

The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group from 
the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The 
consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from the date that 
control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains or losses on transactions between Group 
entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments 
made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the accounting 
policies adopted by the Group. 

Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or 
indirectly, to the Group are presented as “non-controlling 
interests". The Group initially recognises non-controlling 
interests that are present ownership interests in subsidiaries 
and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary's net 
assets on liquidation at either fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests' proportionate share of the subsidiary's net assets. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, non-controlling interests are 
attributed their share of profit or loss and each component of 
other comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests are 
shown separately within the equity section of the statement of 
financial position and statement of comprehensive income. 

(p) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. 

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment. Depreciation 
is calculated on a straight line or diminishing value basis so as 
to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset 
over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 
assets are: 

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rate (%) 

Office furniture 10.00 – 20.00 

Office equipment 7.50 – 66.67 

(q) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, 
and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured 
using the cashflows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cashflows. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a 
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can 
be measured reliably. 

(r) Leases 

At inception of a contract the Group assesses if the contract 
contains or is a lease. If there is a lease present, a right-of-use 
asset and a corresponding liability are recognised by the Group 
where the Group is a lessee. However, all contracts that are 
classified as short-term leases (i.e. leases with a remaining 
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets 
are recognised as an operating expense on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease.  

Initially, the lease liability is measured at the present value of 
the lease payments still to be paid at the commencement date. 
The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit 
in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the 
Group uses incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability are as follows: 

• fixed lease payments less any lease incentives; 

• variable lease payments that depend on index or rate, 
initially measured using the index or rate at the 
commencement date; 

• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under 
residual value guarantees; 
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2. Statement of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

• the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise the options; 

• lease payments under extension options, if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and  

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the 
lease term reflects the exercise of options to terminate 
the lease. 

The right-of-use asses comprise the initial measurement of the 
corresponding lease liability, any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs. The 
subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or 
useful life of the underlying asset, whichever is the shortest. 

Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or 
the costs of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group 
anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. 

(s) Revenue recognition 

Dividend and interest revenue 

Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis. Interest 
revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes 
into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

(t) Share–based payments 

Equity–settled share–based payments are measured at fair 
value at the date of grant. Fair value is measured by use of the 
Black and Scholes model or binomial model. The expected life 
used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s 
best estimate, for the effects of non–transferability, exercise 
restrictions, and behavioural considerations. 

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity–settled 
share–based payments is expensed on a straight–line basis 
over the vesting period, based on the entity’s estimate of shares 
that will eventually vest. 

For cash–settled share–based payments, a liability equal to the 
portion of the goods or services received is recognised at the 
current fair value determined at each reporting date. 

(u) Fair value measurement 

The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair 
value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, depending 
on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard. 

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset 
or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an orderly (i.e. 
unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable 
and willing market participants at the measurement date. 

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent 
observable market pricing information is used to determine fair 
value. Adjustments to market values may be made having 
regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The 
fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an 
active market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. 

(u) Fair value measurement (cont’d) 

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from 
either the principal market for the asset or liability (i.e. the 
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the 
asset or liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the most 
advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the 
reporting period (i.e. the market that maximises the receipts 
from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to 
transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs 
and transport costs). 

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes 
into account a market participant's ability to use the asset in its 
highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The fair value of liabilities and the entity's own equity 
instruments (excluding those related to share-based payment 
arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable 
market price in relation to the transfer of such financial 
instruments, by reference to observable market information 
where such instruments are held as assets. Where this 
information is not available, other valuation techniques are 
adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective 
note to the financial statements. 

• Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and 
other relevant information generated by market 
transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

• Income approach: valuation techniques that convert 
estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into 
a single discounted present value. 

• Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the 
current replacement cost of an asset at its current service 
capacity. 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when pricing 
the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When 
selecting a valuation technique, the Group gives priority to 
those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs 
and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are 
developed using market data (such as publicly available 
information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions 
that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the 
asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for 
which market data is not available and therefore are developed 
using the best information available about such assumptions 
are considered unobservable. 

Fair value hierarchy 

AASB 13 requires the disclosure of fair value information by 
level of the fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value 
measurements into one of three possible levels based on the 
lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement 
can be categorised into as follows: 

Level 1: Measurements based on quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date. 

Level 2: Measurements based on inputs other than 
quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly 

Level 3: Measurements based on unobservable inputs for 
the asset or liability. 
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2. Statement of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(u) Fair value measurement (cont’d) 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an 
active market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. If all significant 
inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset 
or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs 
are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability 
is included in Level 3. 

The Group would change the categorisation within the fair value 
hierarchy only in the following circumstances: 

(i) if a market that was previously considered active (Level 1) 
became inactive (Level 2 or Level 3) or vice versa; or 

(ii) if significant inputs that were previously unobservable 
(Level 3) became observable (Level 2) or vice versa. 

When a change in the categorisation occurs, the Group 
recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 
(i.e. transfers into and out of each level of the fair value 
hierarchy) on the date the event or change in circumstances 
occurred. 

(v) Segment reporting policy 

Operating segments are identified and segment information 
disclosed on the basis of internal reports that are regularly 
provided to, or reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision 
maker which, for the Group, is the Board of Directors. In this 
regard, such information is provided using similar measures to 
those used in preparing the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and statement of financial position. 

(w) New accounting standards and interpretations 

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that 
would be expected to have a material impact on the entity in the 
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future 
transactions. 

 

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management is required to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results 
of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 

The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 

Key estimates – impairment 

The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead to impairment of assets. Where 
an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined taking into consideration the assessment of the global market and 
with the decrease in valuations being attributed to exploration and mining companies. The Board did not impair any expenditure in line with the 
current transactions of the Group as at 30 June 2020. Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred may either be expensed 
immediately to the profit and loss or be accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. 

Key judgements — exploration and evaluation expenditure 

The future recoverability of exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised on the acquisition of areas of interest and/or capitalised JORC 
compliant mineral resource expenditure are dependent on a number of factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease 
itself or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale. To the extent that capitalised acquisition 
costs and/or capitalised JORC compliant mineral resource expenditure are determined not to be recoverable in the future, profits and net assets 
will be reduced in the period in which this determination is made. 

Key judgments — deferred taxation 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences in accordance with accounting policies. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised in respect of tax losses only where the tax losses are expected to be recovered. The Group has not recognised any deferred tax assets 
as the Directors cannot determine with any degree of certainty the probability of using the deferred tax assets arising from tax losses and other 
temporary differences. 
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  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

4. Loss from operations 
  

 (a) Other income   

 Interest 271 2,045 

 Sale of exploration permits 25,000 – 

 Service fees 5,273 1,462 

  30,544 3,507 

 (b) Employee benefit expense includes:   

 Post employment benefits:   

 Defined contribution plans 4,063 3,905 

    
5. Income taxes 

  

 Income tax recognised in profit or loss   

 Tax benefit/(expense) comprises:   

 Current tax expense – – 

 Deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences – – 

 Total tax benefit – – 

    

 
The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting loss from operations 
reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial statements as follows:   

 Loss from operations (2,233,968) (826,650) 

 Income tax expense calculated at 27.5% (614,341) (227,329) 

 Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 90,643 34,277 

 Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable loss 117,303 – 

 Effect of FCTR expensed to P&L (Swedish entities) – (42,252) 

 Effect of net deferred tax asset/(liability) not recognised:   

 
Tax losses and temporary differences not recognised as deferred tax 
assets/(liabilities) 

299,403 160,830 

 Change in recognised deductible temporary differences 106,992 74,474 

 Income tax benefit – – 

 
The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 27.5% payable 
by Australian corporate entities on taxable profits under Australian tax law.   

 Unrecognised deferred tax balances   

 The following deferred tax assets and (liabilities) have not been brought to account:   

 Tax losses – revenue 5,499,479 6,191,462 

 Net temporary differences 196,275 92,715 

 Income tax benefit 5,695,754 6,284,177 

    

 Tax consolidation   

 Relevance of tax consolidation to the Group   

 

Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its Australian resident wholly
owned entities, to elect to consolidate and be treated as a single entity for income tax
purposes was substantively enacted on 21 October 2002. The Company and its 100%
owned Australian resident subsidiaries have implemented the tax consolidation legislation.   
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6. Key management personnel disclosures 
  

 (a) Details of key management personnel   

 

The Directors and Executives of Critical Metals Ltd during the year were: 

Directors 
• Damian Hicks ● Kris Gram 

• Jonathan Murray ● Olof Forslund 

• Markus Bachmann   

 (b) Key management personnel compensation   

 

The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of the Group is set out below. Detailed compensation of each member 
of the key management personnel of the Group is set out in the Directors Remuneration report on page 4. 

 

  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

 Short-term employee benefits 332,709 316,350 

 Post-employment benefits – – 

 Other benefits 326,744 – 

  659,453 316,350 

    
7. Remuneration of auditors 

  

 Audit or review of the financial report   

 Stantons International 10,000 9,000 

 Audit or review of subsidiaries' accounts   

 Bright Norland Sweden 3,078 2,980 

 Ernst & Young Sweden – (191) 

 Non-audit services   

 Stantons International Securities (associate of Stantons International) – 2,000 

  13,078 13,789 

 The auditor of the Group is Stantons International.   

 
The auditor of the subsidiary Critical Metals Scandinavia AB is Ernst & Young AB, 
Sweden.   

    
8. Current trade and other receivables 

  

 Trade receivables (i) 83 – 

 Net goods and services tax (GST) receivable 9,746 32,006 

 Other 3,963 4,258 

  13,792 36,264 

 

(i) The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days. No interest is charged on the trade payables for the first 30 to 60 
days from the date of invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at various penalty rates. The consolidated entity has financial risk management 
policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe. 
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9. Property, plant and equipment 
  

  
Equipment 

at cost Total 

  $ $ 

 Gross carrying amount   

 Balance at 1 July 2018 53,381 53,381 

 Additions – – 

 Write off (10,904) (10,904) 

 Exchange difference (645) (645) 

 Balance at 30 June 2019 41,832 41,832 

 Write off (21,386) (21,386) 

 Exchange difference (797) (797) 

 Balance at 30 June 2020 19,649 19,649 

    

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment   

 Balance at 1 July 2018 51,502 51,502 

 Write off (12,194) (12,194) 

 Depreciation expense 1,307 1,307 

 Exchange difference 621 621 

 Balance at 30 June 2019 41,236 41,236 

 Write off (22,980) (22,980) 

 Depreciation expense 601 601 

 Exchange difference 792 792 

 Balance at 30 June 2020 19,649 19,649 

    

 Net book value   

 As at 30 June 2019 596 596 

 As at 30 June 2020 – – 

   
  2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
10. Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 

  

 Balance at beginning of financial period 1,350,190 1,276,262 

 Exploration expenditure during the period 33,537 54,141 

 Foreign currency translation movement during the period 15,126 19,787 

 LESS: Write off costs (1,039,637) – 

  359,216 1,350,190 
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  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

11. Current trade and other payables 
  

 Trade payables (i) 50,024 63,498 

 Accruals (ii) 827,780 371,596 

 Other payables 85,906 (750) 

  963,710 434,344 

 

(i) The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days. No interest is 
charged on the trade payables for the first 30 to 60 days from the date of the invoice. 
Thereafter, interest is charged at various penalty rates. The Group has financial risk 
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit 
timeframe. 

(ii) Mr Damian Hicks’ total deferred salary entitlement from 1 December 2016 to 30 June
2020 of $500,725 and the Non-Executive Directors’ fee entitlement from date of
appointment to 30 June 2020 of $148,334 are included in the amount.   

    
12. Provisions 

  

 Current   

 Employee benefits 8,080 7,674 

  8,080 7,674 

    

  Employee benefits Total 

  $ $ 

 Balance at 1 July 2018 8,149 8,149 

 Increase in provision 4,414 4,414 

 Utilised during the year (5,015) (5,015) 

 Exchange differences 126 126 

 Balance at 30 June 2019 7,674 7,674 

 Increase in provision 5,020 5,020 

 Utilised during the year (4,760) (4,760) 

 Exchange differences 146 146 

 Balance at 30 June 2020 8,080 8,080 

    
  



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 

CRITICAL METALS LTD 2020 ANNUAL REPORT | 37 

  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

13. Other financial liabilities 
  

 Current   

 Payroll related liabilities 1,589 1,978 

 Loans (i) 234,485 230,100 

  236,074 232,078 

    

 Non-current   

 Royalty (ii) 1 1 

  1 1 

 

(i) On 24 November 2015 the Company announced that the joint venture partner, 
Lovisagruvan AB (LOVI) had formally notified the Company of its decision to proceed to 
Stage 2 of the Pahtohavare joint venture. As part of their Stage 2 commitment LOVI agreed 
to provide the Company with a SEK 3 million (equivalent to AUD 219,588 as at 30 June 
2016) interest free working capital facility which can only be drawn down in two equal 
instalments. Each instalment must be repaid within 12 months from the drawdown date. 

The Company received the first loan instalment of SEK 1.5 million (equivalent to AUD 
231,287) on 29 January 2016 repayable within one (1) year. No further drawdown was 
made. The Company is in negotiation with LOVI to amend the terms of the loan. Refer to 
note 20 for further information. 

(ii) On 18 July 2008, the Group entered into an agreement with Equity and Royalty Investments 
Ltd to pay a 1% gross royalty from future production from mineral assets owned or 
controlled by the Group in either Sweden, Norway or Finland.   

    
14. Issued capital 

  

 35,902,500 fully paid ordinary shares (2019: 32,287,500) 3,267,572 2,468,243 

  3,267,572 2,468,243 

    

  2020 2019 

  No. $ No. $ 

 Fully paid ordinary shares     

 Balance at beginning of financial period 32,287,500 2,468,243 32,287,500 2,468,243 

 Issue of shares (i) 1,500,000 300,000 – – 

 Issue of shares (ii) 575,000 115,000 – – 

 Issue of shares (iii) 1,540,000 385,000 – – 

 Share issue costs – (671) – – 

 Balance at end of financial period 35,902,500 3,267,572 32,287,500 2,468,243 

 Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. 

 

(i) In September 2019 a total of 1,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.20 per share were issued to raise $300,000. 
(ii) In January 2020 a total of 575,000 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.20 per share were issued to raise $115,000. 
(iii) In May 2020, a total of 1,540,000 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.25 per share were issued to raise $385,000. 
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  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

15. Reserves 
  

 Comprising:   

 Option reserve 425,686 106,642 

 Foreign currency translation reserve 13,610 1,484 

  439,296 108,126 

 Movement in option reserve:   

 Balance at beginning of financial period 106,642 106,642 

 Share based payment expense 425,686 – 

 Lapse of options (106,642) – 

 Balance at end of financial year 425,686 106,642 

    

 Movement in foreign currency translation reserve   

 Balance at beginning of financial period 1,484 (23,295) 

 Foreign currency translation reserve movement during the period 12,126 24,779 

 Balance at end of financial year 13,610 1,484 

 Nature and purpose of reserves 

Option reserve 

The option reserve recognises the fair value of options issued and valued using the Black-Scholes model. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries. 

 Share options 

As at 30 June 2020, options over 7,500,000 ordinary shares in aggregate are as follow. 

 
Issuing entity 

No of shares  
under option Class of shares 

Exercise price 
of option 

Expiry date 
of options 

 Critical Metals Ltd 6,500,000 Ordinary 30 cents each 26 November 2023 

 Critical Metals Ltd 1,000,000 Ordinary 40 cents each 30 April 2024 

 Share options are all unlisted, carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. 4,850,000 options lapsed unexercised during the year. 

  
  2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
16. Accumulated losses 

  

 Balance at beginning of year (1,834,249) (1,007,599) 

 Loss attributable to members of the parent entity (2,233,968) (826,650) 

 Items of other comprehensive income recognised directly in retained earnings   

 Options lapsed 106,642 – 

 Balance at end of financial period (3,961,575) (1,834,249) 
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17. Loss per share 
  

  2020 
Cents per share 

2019 
Cents per share 

 Basic loss per share:   

 From continuing operations (6.60) (2.56) 

 Total basic loss per share (6.60) (2.56) 

 Basic loss per share 

 The loss and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic loss per share are as follows: 

  
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

 Loss for the period (2,233,968) (826,650) 

  
2020 

No. 
2019 

No. 

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic loss per share 33,868,347 32,287,500 

   
18. Segment reporting 

 

The Group operates predominantly in the Swedish and Finland mineral exploration industry. For management purposes, the Group is organised 
into one main operating segment which involves the exploration of minerals in Australia and Scandinavia. All of the Group’s activities are 
interrelated and discrete financial information is reported to the Board (Chief Operating Decision Maker) as a single segment. Accordingly, all 
significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Group as one segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to 
the financial statements of the Group as a whole. 

 Revenue analysis by geographic area   

  Total revenue 

  
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

 Australia 271 2,045 

 Scandinavia 30,273 1,462 

  30,544 3,507 

 Result analysis by geographic area   

 Australia (906,773) (444,467) 

 Scandinavia (1,327,195) (382,183) 

 Loss before income tax benefit (2,233,968) (826,650) 

 Income tax benefit – – 

 Loss for the period (2,233,968) (826,650) 

 Assets and liabilities analysis by geographic area   

  2020 2019 

  
Assets 

$ 
Liabilities 

$ 
Assets 

$ 
Liabilities 

$ 

 Australia 384,309 726,954 18,564 356,464 

 Scandinavia 568,849 480,911 1,397,653 317,633 

  953,158 1,207,865 1,416,217 674,097 
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19. Commitments for expenditure 

 

In Sweden and Finland, an exploration permit is valid for a period of three years from date of issue and following that may be extended for another 
maximum three year period if it can be shown suitable exploration has been carried out within the area. There are no minimum exploration 
commitments required to be spent on the permits, apart from permit renewal fees, by the Swedish and Finland authorities respectively. 

In April 2020 Critical Metals secured a conditional contract to purchase 200,000T of slag products for 10 years from Scandinavian steel producer 
SSAB, and a co-operation agreement with specialty metals company Neometals Ltd to process the slag to recover vanadium. Critical Metals is 
being carried by Neometals on the funding of all studies and test work. Critical Metals is responsible for delivering a location study, managing in-
country matters, and the relationship with SSAB. For detailed information please refer to the Review of Operations. 

  
20. Contingent liabilities 

 

(i) On 18 July 2008, the Group entered into an agreement with Equity and Royalty Investments Ltd to pay a 1% gross royalty from future 
production from mineral assets owned or controlled by the Group in either Sweden, Norway or Finland. 

(ii) On 27 March 2015 Kiruna Iron AB (KIAB) (wholly owned subsidiary of Critical Metals Ltd) announced a joint venture with Lovisagruvan AB 
(LOVI) (a Swedish mining company) over its Pahtohavare Copper-Gold Project, located near Kiruna, northern Sweden. LOVI made a payment 
of SEK 1 million, completed drilling and metallurgical test work and received a 20% interest in the permits comprising the Pahtohavare project 
(Stage 1 Earn In). 

On 24 November 2015 KIAB and LOVI amended the joint venture terms such that LOVI was granted an additional 15% interest in the 
Pahtohavare project on the basis that it would lodge an exploitation concession application for Pahtohavare by the end of November 2016 
and provide an interest free working capital facility of SEK 3 million (Stage 2 Earn in). LOVI has the option to earn up to a total of 75% interest 
in Pahtohavare by funding all the costs required to have both an exploitation concession and an environmental permit granted by the Swedish 
State and by delivering a bankable feasibility statement.  

On 29 January 2016 KIAB drew down SEK 1.5 million of the working capital facility and this amount remains payable.  

KIAB and LOVI have amended the joint venture agreement in so far as the parties have agreed to a standstill on both repayment of the loan 
and the due date for lodgement of the exploitation concession application.  

In 2019 as part of a corporate restructure, the joint venture agreement was transferred to from KIAB to Critical Metals Scandinavia AB 
(CMSAB) (wholly owned subsidiary of Critical Metals Ltd). 

One key permit at Pahtohavare has not been renewed by the Bergsstaten since 25 September 2019. The responsibility for maintaining the 
permit in good standing rests with joint venture partner LOVI. The joint venture partner is preparing an application to appeal to the decision 
of Bergsstaten. There is a possibility that this permit will be lost to the joint venture and the status of the project and joint venture will need to 
be reviewed. 

(iii) On 5 April 2020, Critical Metals Ltd entered into a Co-operation Agreement with Neometals Ltd and a Slag Recycling Facility with Swedish 
Steel AB. As part of the agreement, the Company is responsible for funding and conducting a Location Study for the Vanadium Recovery 
Project by 30 November 2020. 

  
21. Subsidiary 

 

Name of entity 
Country of 

incorporation 

Ownership Interest 

 
2020 

% 
2019 

% 

 Parent entity:    

 Critical Metals Ltd (i) Australia   

 Subsidiary:    

 Scandinavian Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

 Lib Recycling Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

 Critical Metals Scandinavia AB (iii) Australia 100 100 

 Kiruna Iron AB (iii) Australia 100 100 

 Recycling Industries Scandinavia AB (iii) Australia 100 – 

 Critical Metals Scandinavia AB Filial i Finland (v) Australia 100 100 

 (i) Critical Metals Ltd is the ultimate parent entity. All the companies are members of the group.  

(ii) The 100% interest in Scandinavian Resources Pty Ltd and LiB Recycling Pty Ltd are held by the parent entity. 

(iii) The 100% interest in Critical Metals Scandinavia AB, Kiruna Iron AB and Recycling Industries Scandinavia AB are held via  
Scandinavian Resources Pty Ltd. Recycling Industries Scandinavia AB was incorporated in November 2019. 

(iv) Critical Metals Scandinavia AB Filial i Finland is a branch of Critical Metals Scandinavia AB in Finland. 
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22. Related party disclosures 

 (a) Equity interests in related parties 

 

Equity interests in subsidiary 

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiary is disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements. 

 (b) Key management personnel remuneration 

 Details of key management personnel remuneration are disclosed in note 6 to the financial statements. 

 (c) Loans to and from key management personnel and their related parties 

 
Details regarding the aggregate of loans made, guaranteed or secured by an entity in the Group to key management personnel and their
related parties, and the number of individuals in each group, are as follows:  

  
Opening balance 

$ 
Closing balance 

$ 
Interest charged 

$ 
Number 

 in group 

 2020     

 Total for KMP – – – – 

 Total for other related parties (i) – – 4,783 – 

  – – 4,783 – 

 2019     

 Total for KMP – – – – 

 Total for other related parties  – – – – 

  – – – – 

 

(i) Hannans Ltd (Hannans), of which Mr Damian Hicks, Mr Jonathan Murray and Mr Markus Bachmann are the Directors, provided the 
Company with a short term loan facility of $125,000 at an interest rate of 12% per annum. The loan was unsecured and repayable 
by 30 June 2020. $115,000 of the loan facility was drawn down by the Company. Interest on the loan facility to 31 December 2019 
amounted to $4,783 and was paid in December 2019. On 13 January 2020 Hannans participated in the Company’s capital raising 
by converting the loan amount of $115,000 at a share price of $0.20 per share on an arm’s length basis. The settlement of the loan 
was completed at the fair value of $115,000. 

 (d) Transactions with other related parties 

 

Subsidiary 

All loans advanced to and payable to related parties are unsecured. No interest was charged on the outstanding intercompany loan
balances during the financial year. Critical Metals Ltd received interest of nil from loans to subsidiary, and paid interest of nil to subsidiary.

Director transactions 

Corporate Board Services (CBS), of which Mr Damian Hicks is a Director, provided management, financial, company secretary and
administrative services amounting to $51,040 (2019: $52,100) during the year. The services provided were on arms length commercial
terms. At 30 June 2020 $14,989 was owing to CBS (2019: $12,933). 

Steinepreis Paganin, of which Mr Jonathan Murray is a Partner, provided legal services amounting to $7,666 (2019: $6,412) during the 
year. The services provided were on arms length commercial terms. At 30 June 2020 the Company did not owe Steinepreis Paganin
(2019: nil). 

 (e) Parent entity 

 The ultimate parent entity in the Group is Critical Metals Ltd. 

  
23. Subsequent events 

 No matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2020 that may significantly affect, the operations of the Company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 
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  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

24. Notes to the statement of cash flows 
  

 (a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents   

 For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market 
instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of financial position 
as follows: 

  

 Cash and cash at bank 580,150 29,167 

  580,150 29,167 

 (b) Reconciliation of loss for the year to net cash flows from operating 
activities 

  

 For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market 
instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the financial period as shown in the consolidated statement of cash 
flows is reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as follows: 

  

 Profit/(Loss) for the year (2,233,968) (826,650) 

 Write off exploration and evaluation expenses 1,039,637 – 

 Equity settled share-based payments 425,686 – 

 Depreciation of non-current assets 601 1,307 

 Foreign exchange differences (2,756) 5,066 

 
Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisition and 
disposal of businesses:   

 (Increase)/decrease in assets:   

 Trade and other receivables 22,472 (11,931) 

 Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:   

 Trade and other payables and provisions 533,768 386,761 

  (214,560) (445,447) 

 (c) Non-cash financing and investing activities 

 During the current year, the Group did not enter into any non-cash investing and financing activities which are not reflected in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows. 

  
25. Financial instruments 

 (a) Financial risk management objectives 

 

The Group manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group.  

The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. The use 
of financial derivatives is governed by the Company’s Board of Directors. 

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates, but at 30 June 2020 it is also exposed to market 
price risk. The Group does not enter into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate. 

 (b) Significant accounting policies 

 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and 
the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument
are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements. 

 (c) Foreign currency risk management 

 

The Group is not exposed to any significant currency risk on receivable, payable or borrowings. All loans are denominated in the Group’s
functional currency. 
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25. Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 (d) Interest rate risk management 

 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it places funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. The risk is managed by maintaining 
an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate products which also facilitate access to money. 

 

Maturity profile of financial instruments 

The following table details the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk. 

 

Consolidated 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 

Fixed maturity dates   

 
Variable 

interest rate 

Less 

than 1 year 

1–5  

years 

5+  

Years 
Non interest 

bearing Total 

 % $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 2020        

 Financial assets:        

 Cash and cash equivalents 0.03% 10,192 – – – 569,958 580,150 

 Trade and other receivables  – – – – 13,792 13,792 

   10,192 – – – 583,750 593,942 

 Financial liabilities:        

 Trade and other payables  – – – – 963,710 963,710 

 Other financial liabilities  – – – – 236,074 236,074 

   – – – – 1,199,784 1,199,784 

 2019        

 Financial assets:        

 Cash and cash equivalents 0.91% 10,187 – – – 18,980 29,167 

 Trade and other receivables  – – – – 36,264 36,264 

   10,187 – – – 55,244 65,431 

 Financial liabilities:        

 Trade and other payables  – – – – 434,344 434,344 

 Other financial liabilities  – – – – 232,078 232,078 

   – – – – 666,422 666,422 

 (e) Credit risk 

 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group 
has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of 
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously 
monitored. The Group measures credit risk on a fair value basis. 

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit–ratings assigned by 
international credit–rating agencies. 

It is a policy of the Group that creditors are paid within 30 days. 

 (f) Liquidity risk management 

 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

The Group does not perform any sensitivity analysis and none is disclosed in the financial statements as the impact would not be material. 

 (g) Market price risk 

 

Market risk is the potential for loss arising from adverse movement in the level and volatility of equity prices. 

The group does not hold investments in listed securities. 
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26. Parent entity disclosures 

 
The following details information related to the parent entity, Critical Metals Ltd, at 30 June 2020. The information presented here has been prepared
using consistent accounting policies as presented in note 2. 

  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

 Results of the parent entity   

 Loss for the year (1,229,559) (803,675) 

 Other comprehensive income – – 

 Total comprehensive loss for the year (1,229,559) (803,675) 

    

 Financial position of parent entity at year end   

 Current assets 384,268 18,320 

 Non–current assets 2 2 

 Total assets 384,270 18,322 

    

 Current liabilities 726,954 356,463 

 Non–current liabilities – – 

 Total liabilities 726,954 356,463 

    

 Total equity of the parent entity comprising of:   

 Share capital 3,267,572 2,468,243 

 Reserves (815,802) (1,134,847) 

 Accumulated losses (2,794,454) (1,671,537) 

 Total equity (342,684) (338,141) 

    

 (a) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiary 

 
The parent entity had not entered into any guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiary as at 30 June 2020 other than disclosed in 
this financial report. 

  

 (b) Parent entity contingencies 

 The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 other than disclosed in this financial report. 

  

 (c) Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment by the parent entity 

 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2020 other than disclosed in this financial 
report. 
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